IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 24 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2014-CP-26-7264
Appellate Case No. 2017-000471

Gregory Duerk, Donald L. Duerk, Jr. and Deborah Duerk Tiller,.....Appellants,

v.

Geoffrey Duerk, Kristen Duerk and James M. Stewart,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas C. Brittain, Esquire
4614 Oleander Drive
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
(843) 449-8562
tommyb@brittainlawfirm.com
Attorney for the Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THERE WAS NO PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPOSED DEFENDANT JAMES M. STEWART?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

All of the named Duerks, Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk, Deborah Duerk-Tiller, Geoffrey Duerk and Kristen Duerk are related; Gregory, Donald, Deborah and Geoffrey are siblings and Kristen is the daughter of Geoffrey and niece to Gregory, Donald and Deborah.

Eileen Ryan, a cousin of the Duerks and second cousin to Kristen made a point to leave her home in Florida to the four Duerk siblings.

The siblings had a strong connection to the place and through the years there were many conversations regarding this house and that it was to be given to the Duerk siblings in her Will.

As Eileen Ryan's health failed, it fell on Gregory Duerk to assume responsibility as power of attorney for her. Eventually, based on her failing health Gregory made the decision to move her to South Carolina where her needs were attended to by the Duerks (Gregory, Donald and Deborah) in their homes until she failed to such an extent that she was placed in a nursing home.

At some point in time it became clear that Eileen Ryan was never going to return to her home in Florida and because costs were rising the Duerk siblings began to discuss what to do with that vacant home. Eventually, it was determined to put it on the market for sale, which was done, and a lawyer by the name of James Stewart, who resides in Florida, contacted Gregory Duerk on behalf of his potential purchasers, Jason Paruta and Mindi Paruta.

James Stewart began to discuss this matter with Gregory Duerk (power of attorney for Eileen Ryan). Many discussions ensued culminating in the purchase and sale of said home in April 2012 with the Parutas being the mortgagors and Eileen Ryan being the mortgagee. The Parutas were to send monthly payments of \$1,000.00 to Eileen Ryan by and through her power of attorney, Gregory Duerk, each month until June 1, 2014 at which time the remaining balance of \$286,200.00 would become due and payable (R. p. 23). On August 23, 2013, Eileen Ryan passed away. Shortly

thereafter Gregory Duerk was contacted by attorney James Stewart on behalf of his clients, the Parutas (R. p. 65, lines 3-8). During that conversation, James Stewart suggested to Gregory Duerk that he handle the probate matters of Eileen Ryan (R. p. 68, line 25-p. 69, line 18). Gregory Duerk, believing at that time that Mr. Stewart would handle this matter in a fair way, keeping him advised of the circumstances surrounding the probate of the estate of Ms. Ryan in Florida, agreed (R. p. 23).

This home was essentially all that Ms. Ryan left of any value.

Many discussions took place. Gregory Duerk expected James Stewart to keep him apprised of the circumstances surrounding the matter and advise him as to what course of action he should take. Further, at the request of Mr. Stewart, Gregory Duerk mailed to him important estate documents including the Last Will and Testament of Eileen Ryan.

Thereafter, Mr. Stewart advised Gregory Duerk that, in accordance with Ms. Ryan's Will, Geoffrey Duerk would need to be appointed as the Personal Representative of the estate, not Gregory. Thereafter, James Stewart continued to handle the probate of the estate in Florida and filed documents listing Geoffrey Duerk and Kristen Duerk as the only beneficiaries to the estate when he knew or should have known this to be false and in contradiction to Ms. Ryan's Last Will and Testament which left any interest in her Florida property to the four Duerk siblings. Based upon the inaccurate information provided to the probate court in Florida, Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller never received any of the Florida probate court filings and were never made aware that Geoffrey Duerk, with the assistance of James Stewart, planned to disburse the estate assets to himself and his daughter Kristen Duerk all in violation of the Last Will and Testament of Eileen Ryan.

Contrary to the probate documents filed in Florida, Gregory Duerk was led to believe by Mr. Stewart and Geoffrey Duerk that he and his siblings would receive their portion of the proceeds once the matter had been resolved.

It was not until the estate of Eileen Ryan had been closed and the estate assets had been disbursed that Geoffrey Duerk informed his brothers and sister that he would be keeping the money and giving some to his daughter, Kristen.

Thereafter, Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller filed an action in Horry County, South Carolina seeking to recover their proportionate share of the proceeds from the sale of the home based on an agreement between the parties and the clear intention of their deceased cousin. (R. pp. 14-19)

Jay Bultz of the Horry County Bar represents Geoffrey Duerk and Kristen Duerk.

After the filing of the Complaint, attorneys for Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller filed a motion to enjoin Geoffrey Duerk from dispensing any of the assets provided to him by James Stewart as a result of the improper probate court filings in Florida until such time as the underlying lawsuit could be resolved. (R. p. 76)

There were written communications between the office of Jay Bultz and Thomas C. Brittain, while that motion was pending, and in those communications the office of Jay Bultz agreed to withhold and protect those funds and not disburse those funds until this matter was concluded, advising there was no reason for the motion to go forward in circuit court (R. pp. 132-139). Thomas C. Brittain on behalf of Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller accepted this promise and withdrew the motion with the lawsuit proceeding. Thereafter, Jay Bultz advised Thomas C. Brittain that the money had been spent, at least a large portion of it, and later would indicate to the court that all of the money had been spent in direct violation of the agreement.

Attorneys for Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller filed a motion with the court for sanctions and to require that the money be returned to an account until the matter was resolved through court process. (R. pp. 79-80).

Judge Steven John ruled that until Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller prevailed in the underlying suit that motion was premature and so no money has been returned to a trust account (R. pp. 6-7). Based on the circumstances surrounding this matter, Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller filed a motion to amend the complaint in order to add James Stewart as a party to this action based on his complicity in this matter (R. pp. 77-78). The motion was heard by The Honorable Donald B. Hocker at which time he ordered that Plaintiff's motion be denied without prejudice until such time as counsel for Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller deposed Mr. Stewart without restriction as to attorney-client privilege. (R. p. 5)

On December 1, 2015, counsel for Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller conducted the telephone deposition of James Stewart and, thereafter, refiled their Motion to Join James Stewart as a party to this action with Memorandum in Support (R. pp. 81-90). On February 22, 2016, Plaintiff's motion was heard before The Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. who, upon considering Plaintiffs' motion and supporting documents (including the deposition testimony of James Stewart) granted the motion to join Defendant James Stewart as a party to this action (R. pp. 8-9).

Upon being served as a defendant with the amended pleadings James Stewart filed, by and through his attorney, William A. Bryan, Jr., a Motion to Dismiss with supporting Memorandum alleging a lack of personal jurisdiction (R. pp. 91-108). In response, Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk

and Deborah Duerk-Tiller filed a Memorandum in Opposition (R. pp. 109-115) along with an Affidavit of Plaintiff's expert witness, Clifford H. Tall (R. pp. 122-131).

James Stewart's Motion to Dismiss was heard before The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson on November 8, 2016 who granted the motion (R. pp. 10-11). Plaintiffs then filed a Motion to Reconsider (R. pp. 116-117), which was denied (R. pp. 12-13). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT AND DISCUSSION

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THERE WAS NO PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPOSED DEFENDANT JAMES M. STEWART?

A ruling on a motion to dismiss must be based solely on the allegations set forth on the face of the Complaint. The motion cannot be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case. *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App.1995). The question is whether in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every reasonable doubt resolved in his behalf, the Complaint states any valid claim for relief. The cause of action should not be struck merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Id.* at 68, 463 S.E.2d at 99.

Further, at the pretrial stage of an action, the plaintiff must only make a prima facie showing by pleadings and affidavits in order to withstand a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. *Askins v. Firedoor Corporation of Florida*, 316 S.E.2d 713 (Ct. App. 1984).

Here, the allegations contained in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint together with the Affidavit of expert witness Clifford Tall meet these requirements.

In postmodern American jurisprudence the concept of "personal jurisdiction" is one that is changing.

In the postmodern world of email, snapchat, twitter, texting and telemarketing, the state lines involving some barrier to citizens from various states participating one with the other and providing services one to the other and relying on one another has become a concept of the past. Courts throughout the nation are granting jurisdiction in much broader circumstances and expanding the reach of the various long-arm statutes of the states to their logical conclusion.

In South Carolina there is a two-prong test in determining whether a court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident. First, the court must determine whether the non-resident's

conduct meets the requirements of the long-arm statute. *Hume v. Durwood Medical Clinic, Inc.*, 318 S.E.2d 119. South Carolina's long-arm statute S.C. Code Ann. §36-2-803 (1976) states, in pertinent part:

- (1) A court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a person who acts directly or by an agent as to a cause of action arising from the person's:
 - (a) transacting any business in this State;
 - (c) commission of a tortious act in whole or in part in this State;

Secondly, the court must determine if the nonresident has established minimum contacts that comport with "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice." *Hume*. There are four criteria that must be considered in this second part of the test:

1. The duration of the activity of the non-resident within the state;
2. The character and circumstances of the commission of the non-resident's act;
3. The inconvenience resulting to the parties by conferring or refusing to confer jurisdiction over the non-resident; and
4. The state's interest in exercising jurisdiction.

Colite Industries v. G.W. Murphy Const., 377 S.E.2d 321 (1989).

In applying this two-prong test to the current case before the Court, James Stewart meets both criteria. First, in applying sections 1(a) of the long-arm statute, James Stewart clearly transacted business in South Carolina by contacting Gregory Duerk, a resident of South Carolina, and offering to represent the estate of Eileen Ryan and, further, contacting Gregory Duerk several times by phone and corresponding with him by mail regarding these matters and leading Gregory Duerk to believe that he would be representing all of the Duerk siblings in this matter.

In applying section 1(c) of the long-arm statute, James Stewart clearly commissioned a tortious act in South Carolina by offering to represent the estate of Eileen Ryan when he knew this would be a conflict of interest since he already represented the Parutas who purchased Ms. Ryan's home and were still paying on that mortgage at the time of her death. By misrepresenting to Gregory Duerk that he would be representing all of the Duerk siblings in this matter he breached his fiduciary duty. Further, he led Gregory Duerk to believe Florida was the correct venue to open the estate when he knew or should have known that Ms. Ryan was domiciled in South Carolina at the time of her death and therefore was the proper venue for the estate (R. 75, lines 4-19). Further, James Stewart filed with the probate court in Florida documents containing false information as to where the decedent was domiciled at the time of her death and who were the beneficiaries of her estate in accordance with her Will. These tortious acts took place in both Florida and South Carolina.

With respect to the second prong James Stewart established minimum contacts by initiating contact with Gregory Duerk both when trying to negotiate the sale of Eileen Ryan's home in Florida and upon Ms. Ryan's passing, both times on behalf of his clients the Parutas (R. p. 64, line 22-p. 65, line 8; p. 70 line 25-p. 71, line 8). In addition, Mr. Stewart had additional conversations with Gregory Duerk and also communicated with him by mail on these matters further establishing minimum contacts. The second step in the second prong requires that the state's exercise of jurisdiction not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice and is based on four considerations. With respect to the first consideration (The duration of the activity of the non-resident within the state) Mr. Stewart's contact with Gregory Duerk continued for a period of years and therefore is of a long duration. With respect to the second consideration (the character and circumstances of the commission of the non-resident's act), Mr. Stewart initiated the contact with

Gregory Duerk for the benefit of his clients, the Parutas and himself; further, he misrepresented to Gregory Duerk that he would be looking out for the interest of the Duerk siblings with regards to the estate of Eileen Ryan and did so for an ulterior purpose and with ill intent. With respect to the third consideration (The inconvenience resulting to the parties by conferring or refusing to confer jurisdiction over the non-resident), all parties to this action with the exception of Mr. Stewart are residents of the State of South Carolina County of Horry and therefore conferring jurisdiction upon South Carolina would pose no unusual inconvenience since all parties to this action, other than Mr. Stewart, are South Carolina Residents. *Hammond v. Butler, Means, Evins & Brown*, 388 S.E.2d 796, (S.C. Sup. Ct.1990). With respect to the fourth consideration (The state's interest in exercising jurisdiction), the State of South Carolina has an interest in protecting its citizens against inappropriate and unethical/fraudulent business transactions. To refuse jurisdiction in this State based upon James Stewart's actions would be an inconvenience to Gregory Duerk, Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk-Tiller and, further, would be a miscarriage of justice.

Hammond is a very pertinent Supreme Court decision regarding this matter. In *Hammond*, Justice Finney decided that it was proper for a South Carolina Court to exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident who resided and practiced law in New York City. The trial court held that the long-arm statute minimum contact requirements, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §36-2-803, had been satisfied and that South Carolina could exercise personal jurisdiction. The facts and circumstances in this case are most clearly on point with the issue before the Court. The attorney was providing services and was clearly intended to be captured by South Carolina's long-arm statute and under the particular circumstances there were minimum contacts which comported with the traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

In the case at hand we have the following: initiation of conversation by James Stewart with Gregory Duerk (R. p. 65, lines 3-8); specific involvement in the original transaction leading to the circumstances that are set forth in the Amended Complaint (R. pp. 70-71); representation of multiple parties throughout the process; the use of communication systems, letters, emails, telephone conversations with the various parties; the providing of a service; the creation of a fiduciary relationship and personal involvement with Gregory Duerk both individually and as a representative of his siblings in this regard; a failure throughout to notify and keep abreast one who was either his client (a determination to be made after all the evidence and testimony is taken in the case) or simply one who had a fiduciary obligation based on the circumstances to at least notify and apprise Gregory Duerk of the necessity for Gregory Duerk to find separate counsel to protect his rights and those of his two siblings.

Failure to grant personal jurisdiction in this regard would strip the long-arm statute of its intention and its expansive reach. Notions of fair play could hardly be at stake here and, in fact, the opposite is true; for one not schooled in matters of probate and real estate transactions (Gregory Duerk), counting on an attorney to guide him in this regard a ruling against jurisdiction is unfair. Where a hearing proceeds that divests a citizen of his rights and those of his siblings, especially the right to be heard, a significant failure is at hand. A finding of no personal jurisdiction would violate traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. One who participates professionally and personally in the middle of specific transactions and should expect to be included when those matters are litigated, those contacts with the citizens, both deceased and her relatives, are essentially a consensual submission to jurisdiction of the court resolving those issues.

The fact that James Stewart never entered South Carolina does not absolve him from being subject to personal jurisdiction in this State. In *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462,

105 S.Ct. 2174, it was determined that jurisdiction may not be avoided merely because the defendant did not physically enter the state in question; the constitutional touchstone remains whether or not the defendant purposefully established minimum contacts in that particular state. Here James Stewart who resides and practices in Florida initiated contact with Gregory Duerk who resides in South Carolina and offered to be the attorney of record for the estate of Eileen Ryan (R. p. 68, line 25-p. 69, line 18). He also had additional communications with Gregory Duerk both by phone and mail thereby meeting the requirement for minimum contacts in South Carolina. These phone conversations and written communications are sufficient evidence to overcome a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction *Kimball v. Schwartz*, 580 F. Supp. 582 (W.D. Pa. 1984).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellants request this Court reverse the grant of the dismissal of Respondent James Stewart as a party to this action and remand to the lower court.