IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2014-CP-26-7264
Appellant Case No.: 2017-000471

Gregory Duerk, Donald L. Duerk, Jr. and Deborah Duerk Tiller.....Appellants

vs.

Geoffrey Duerk, Kristen Duerk and James M. Stewart,.....Respondents

RESPONDENT JAMES STEWART'S FINAL BRIEF

RECEIVED

JAN 31 2018

WILLIAM A. BRYAN, JR.
wbryan@collinsandlacy.com
AMY L. NEUSCHAFER
aneuschafer@collinsandlacy.com
11945 Grandhaven Drive, Suite D
Murrells Inlet, South Carolina 29576
(843) 353-2350
(843) 353-2351 (f)

SC Court of Appeals

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
JAMES M. STEWART

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

The alleged contacts cited in Appellants' Initial Brief that include no corresponding reference to the Record violate Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR and should not be considered. References to James Stewart's deposition should be similarly disregarded because the deposition

transcript was not before the trial court during the pendency of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and is therefore not properly part of the Record on Appeal. See Rule 210(c), SCACR.

b. The Trial Court Did Not Have General Jurisdiction Over Stewart.

Similarly, Appellants failed to present evidence establishing general jurisdiction over Respondent Stewart. General jurisdiction is present when a defendant has an "enduring relationship" with the forum state. Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co., 363 S.C. 485, 495, 611 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2005). To satisfy the "enduring relationship" requirement, the defendant's contacts with the forum state must be "continuous and systematic." Helicopteros Nacionales de Columbia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 413-14 nn. 8-9, 104 S.Ct. 1868 (1984).

Appellants have cited no evidence of "continuous and systematic" contacts sufficient to satisfy general jurisdiction. The Affidavit of Respondent Stewart, which has not been contradicted, reinforces the absence of continuous and systematic contacts between Respondent and South Carolina. Mr. Stewart is not a resident of South Carolina. (R. p. 120-121, ¶ 1.) Stewart owns no property in South Carolina. He is not licensed to practice in South Carolina or registered to do any business in South Carolina and has no offices, employees or agents in South Carolina. (R. p. 120-121, ¶¶ 2, 4, 5). Nothing in the Amended Complaint suggests continuous or enduring contacts with the forum state. In fact, the Amended Complaint acknowledges the absence of any contact between Stewart and Appellants Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk. (R. p. 20-28, ¶ 20). Communication between Stewart and Gregory Duerk was not of an enduring nature inasmuch as the contact ceased after Stewart received a copy of Ryan's Last Will and Testament identifying Geoffrey Duerk as Personal Representative. (R. p. 20-28, ¶¶ 15 and 20; R. p. 120-121, ¶ 9). Because Appellants failed to present evidence to the trial court establishing an

enduring relationship between Stewart and the State of South Carolina, the Circuit Court properly declined to exercise general jurisdiction over Respondent Stewart.

The alleged contacts cited in Appellants' Initial Brief that include no corresponding reference to the Record violate Rule 208(b)(4), SCACR and should not be considered. References to James Stewart's deposition should be similarly disregarded because the deposition transcript was not before the trial court during the pendency of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and is therefore not properly part of the Record on Appeal. See Rule 210(c), SCACR.

c. Exercising Jurisdiction Over Respondent Stewart Offends Traditional Notions of Fair Play and Substantial Justice.

Due process requires that the defendant have minimum contacts with the forum state so that maintenance of a suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co., 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508. See Walden v. Fiore, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 1121 (2014); NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co., 379 S.C. at 89, 666 S.E.2d at 222; Cribb v. Spathold, 382 S.C. at 499, 676 S.E.2d at 719.

To determine whether the exercise of jurisdiction complies with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, the court analyzes the following elements: (1) the duration of the defendant's activity in this State; (2) the character and circumstances of the defendant's acts; (3) the inconvenience to the parties; and (4) the State's interest in exercising jurisdiction. Cribb, 382 S.C. at 500, 676 S.E.2d at 719; see also NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co., 379 S.C. at 91, 666 S.E.2d at 223.

Here, Appellants have failed to show that invoking personal jurisdiction over Mr. Stewart would comport with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. First, Appellants have presented no evidence showing ongoing activity in South Carolina. As discussed previously, Stewart is not a resident of South Carolina and is not licensed to practice law in South Carolina.

(R. p. 120-121, ¶¶ 1 and 2). He does not have an office or own other property in South Carolina and is not registered to do business in the state. (R. p. 120-121, ¶¶ 4, 5, 6). Stewart had no contact at all with Appellants Donald Duerk and Deborah Duerk. (R. p. 20-28, ¶ 20). Stewart's communication with Gregory Duerk ceased after Stewart received a copy of Eileen Ryan's Last Will and Testament naming Geoffrey Duerk Personal Representative of Eileen Ryan's estate. (R. p. 20-28, ¶ 20).

Regarding the character and circumstances of Respondent Stewart's contacts with South Carolina, there is no evidence that Stewart transacted business in South Carolina. Rather, all of Stewart's alleged tortious conduct involve actions he took in Florida related to the Parutas' purchase of the Palm Beach Shores home and their subsequent efforts to refinance the mortgage on the Florida property and Stewart's role probating Ryan's Estate in Florida. Stewart's contacts in South Carolina were merely incidental to the principal transactions in Florida.

Invoking jurisdiction over Stewart, whose entire practice, personnel, and documents are in Florida, would be burdensome and inconvenient. Geographic distance, coupled with the lack of any connection to South Carolina, add to the hardship associated with the litigation in South Carolina. South Carolina's interest in providing redress for its citizens is diminished in circumstances, like the present case, where no business was transacted in South Carolina. See Aviation Assocs. & Consultants, Inc. v. Jet Time, 303 S.C. 502, 509 402 S.E.2d 177, 181 (1991).

This is not a case where "the defendant's conduct and connections with the forum state are such that [the defendant] should reasonably anticipate being hauled into court there." World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297 (1980). Under the circumstances here, exercising personal jurisdiction over Stewart would offend traditional notions of fair play and

substantial justice. The Circuit Court's dismissal of Appellants' claims against Respondent Stewart was therefore supported by the evidence.

II. Appellants' Complaint Failed to State a Cognizable Claim Against Respondent Stewart.

Rule 8(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure states that a complaint must contain a "short and plain statement of the facts showing the pleader is entitled to relief." See South Carolina Nat'l Bank v. Joyner, 289 S.C. 382, 346 S.E.2d 329 (Ct. App. 1986) ("[T]he principal purpose of pleadings is to inform the pleader's adversary of legal and factual positions which he will be required to meet on trial."). "This requires a litigant to plead the ultimate facts which will be proved at trial...." Clark v. Clark, 293 S.C. 415, 416, 361 S.E.2d 328, 328 (1987). Conclusory allegations in a complaint are insufficient to survive a judgment on the pleadings. Jones v. Gilstrap, 288 S.C. 525, 528, 343 S.E.2d 646, 648 (Ct. App. 1986); cf. Moore v. City of Columbia, 284 S.C. 278, 326 S.E.2d 157 (Ct. App. 1985) ("In our State, the complaint is sufficient if it informs the defendant of the ultimate facts supporting each element of the cause of action....").

Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Procedure provides that a defendant may make a motion to dismiss on failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. SCRCP 12(b)(6). See Biard v Charleston Cnty., 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999). A motion to dismiss serves to test the legal sufficiency of the allegations in the pleading." When reviewing a motion to dismiss, the court must base its ruling solely on the allegations contained in the complaint. See Jarrell v. Petoseed Co., Inc., 331 S.C. 207, 500 S.E.2d 793, 794 (Ct. App. 1998); O'Laughlin v. Windham, 330 S.C. 379, 498 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 1998). A motion to dismiss should be granted if the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would not entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case. Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C.

297, 300, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602 (1995); see also Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC, 385 S.C. 110, 682 S.E.2d 871, 874 (Ct. App. 2009); Evans v. Gunter, 294 S.C. 525, 527, 366 S.E.2d 44, 46 (1988); Toussaint v. Ham, 292 SC. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987).

In the present matter, the Amended Complaint purports to assert a second cause of action labeled “Conflict of Interest/Misrepresentation/Breach of Fiduciary Duty.” The hybrid cause of action, however, does not adequately state a claim for conflict of interest, misrepresentation, or breach of fiduciary duty under Rule 8(a) or Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. The claims, as stated in the Amended Complaint, do not set forth facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action or provide sufficient facts establishing Appellants’ entitlement to the requested relief. As an additional sustaining ground, the Circuit Court’s dismissal should be affirmed based on Appellants’ failure to sufficiently plead the causes of action against Respondent Stewart.

a. The Amended Complaint Failed to State a Claim for Conflict of Interest or Legal Malpractice.

In the Amended Complaint, Appellants assert “[A] conflict of interest existed in representing all interested parties to this mortgage.” (R. p. 20-28, ¶ 42). In South Carolina, however, there is no civil cause of action for conflict of interest. The South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct address conflict of interest and identify circumstances when a client representation is prohibited due to such a conflict. However, it is well settled that violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct does not give rise to a cause of action against a lawyer. S.C. Rules of Prof’l Conduct R. 407, cmt. 7 (2013) (the Rules “are not designed to be a basis for civil liability”). The Rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and provide a structure for regulating attorney conduct. See Spence v. Wingate, 395 S.C. 148, 161, 716 S.E.2d 920, 927 (2011) (“A review of the Scope of Rule 407, SCACR clearly indicates that the rules are intended

for guidance and disciplinary purposes, not to form the basis for civil litigation.”). Accordingly, a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct do not provide a basis for civil liability.

To the extent that the Appellant’s conflict of interest claim is construed as a legal malpractice claim, it fails to meet the standard set forth in Rule 8 or Rule 12 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The elements of a legal malpractice claim include: (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship; (2) a breach of duty by the attorney; (3) damage to the client; and (4) proximate cause of the client’s damages by the breach. See Brown v. Theos, 345 S.C. 626, 629, 550 S.E.2d 304, 306 (2001); Hall v. Fedor, 349 S.C. 169, 174, 561 S.E.2d 654, 656 (Ct. App. 2002).

Appellants’ claim for legal malpractice is deficient because they failed to allege an attorney-client relationship between Appellants and Mr. Stewart. Throughout the Amended Complaint, Appellants repeatedly assert that an attorney-client relationship existed between Mr. Stewart and the Parutas. (R. p. 20-28, ¶¶ 15, 20). As part of the conflict of interest theory, Appellants also allege that Stewart undertook to represent the Estate of Eileen Ryan, as mortgagor, disregarding his concurrent representation of the Parutas, as mortgagees. (R. p. 20-28, ¶ 44). The Amended Complaint fails to allege that Stewart undertook an attorney-client relationship with respect to Appellants. Accordingly, the circuit court’s dismissal was supported by the evidence.

b. The Amended Complaint Failed to State a Cognizable Claim for Negligent Misrepresentation.

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require that facts be pled to support each element of a cause of action. Moore v. City of Columbia, 284 S.C. 278, 283, 326 S.E.2d 157, 160 (Ct. App. 1985) (finding complaint adequate when “it informs the defendant of the ultimate facts supporting each element of the cause of action.”). Accordingly, to plead a cognizable cause

of action, a complaint must assert facts establishing the existence of all elements. See Rule 8(a), SCRPC.

To state a valid claim for negligent misrepresentation, a plaintiff must plead the following six elements:

- (1) The defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff;
- (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the statement;
- (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff;
- (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care;
- (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and
- (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance upon the representation.

Allegro, Inc. v. Scully, 409 S.C. 392, 418, 762 S.E.2d 54, 68 (Ct. App. 2014) (reversed on other grounds by Allegro, Inc. v. Scully, 418 S.C. 24, 791 S.E.2d 140 (2016)). See also Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 321 S.C. 291, 468 S.E.2d 292 (1996); AMA Management Corp. v. Strasburger, 309 S.C. 213, 222, 420 S.E.2d 868, 874 (Ct. App. 1992).

“The failure to prove any element of fraud or misrepresentation is fatal to the claim.” Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Cor., 387 S.C. 22, 50, 691 S.E.2d 135, 149 (2010) (quoting Schnellmann v. Roettger, 373 S.C. 379, 382, 645 S.E.2d 239, 241 (2007)).

In support of the cause of action for misrepresentation, Appellants assert:

That Defendant Stewart negligently misrepresented himself to Plaintiff Gregory when he volunteered to handle the opening of the Estate of Eileen Ryan[,] . . . [and] misrepresented to Plaintiff Gregory his interest in opening the Estate of Eileen Ryan and intentionally misled Plaintiff Gregory into believing that Defendant Stewart would be acting in the best interest of the Plaintiffs[,] . . .

(R. p. 20-28, ¶¶ 41 and 44).

Even when read in the light most favorable to Appellants, these allegations fail to identify facts establishing the elements needed to state a claim for negligent misrepresentation.

Appellants fail to assert that Stewart made a false statement. Moreover, to the extent Appellants claim that Stewart failed to disclose information and thereby misled them, these allegations will not withstand scrutiny under Rule 12(b)(6) because a false representation cannot be premised on an omission or silence of a party. See Allegro, Inc., 409 S.C. at 419, 762 S.E.2d at 68 (“Therefore, the element of ‘false misrepresentation’ cannot be premised upon an omission or silence of a party.”).

Appellants also failed to allege Stewart’s pecuniary interest in making the alleged misrepresentation. Accordingly, the dismissal of Appellants’ claim for misrepresentation was supported by the evidence.

c. The Amended Complaint Failed to State a Claim for Breach of Fiduciary Duty.

To establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, plaintiff must prove: (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty by defendant to plaintiff, (2) a breach of that duty; and (3) damages proximately resulting from the defendant’s wrongful conduct. RFT Management Co., LLC v. Tinsley & Adams, L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 732 S.E.2d 166 (2012). See also Moore v. Moore, 360 S.C. 241, 599 S.E.2d 467 (Ct. App. 2004).

It is well settled that “[a] confidential or fiduciary relationship exists when one imposes special confidence in another, so that the latter, in equity and good conscience is bound to act in good faith and with due regard to the interests of the one imposing the confidence.” Davis v. Greenwood Sch. Dist. 50, 365 S.C. 629, 635, 620 S.E.2d 65, 68 (2005). A fiduciary relationship is not a casual one. Moreover, it cannot be created unilaterally. Instead, it requires that the fiduciary have actually accepted or induced the confidence placed in him or her. Steele v. Victory Savings Bank, 295 S.C. 290, 368 S.E.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988).

Here, even if you construe the Amended Complaint in a light most favorable to Appellants, the allegations do not support a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty. While an attorney-client relationship encompasses a fiduciary component, the second cause of action does not allege that Stewart undertook to represent the Appellants. Paragraph 44 instead states that Stewart “volunteered to represent the Estate of Eileen Ryan.” (R. p. 20-28, ¶ 44). Even if Appellants were beneficiaries under Ryan’s Will, their interest in Ryan’s Estate does not give rise to a fiduciary relationship with Stewart as the probating attorney. See Spence v. Wingate, 395 S.C. 148, 157, 716 S.E.2d 920, 925 (2011) (finding the attorney of an Estate owed no duty to the spouse of the decedent based upon her status as a person interested in the Estate.) Accordingly, Appellants’ claim for breach of fiduciary duty fails to meet the pleading standard set forth in Rule 8 and Rule 12 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent Stewart requests this Court uphold the Circuit Court's dismissal based on Appellants' failure to establish personal jurisdiction. Respondent further submits that Appellants' failure to satisfy the pleading standard set forth in Rule 8(a) and 12(b)(6), SCRCP supports dismissal as an additional sustaining ground. This Court should carefully view the Appellants' Brief and consider only such issues and arguments as are properly raised to the Court as required by Rule 208(b)(1) and (b)(4), SCACR.